

Zentrum für Technomathematik Fachbereich 3 – Mathematik und Informatik

Fachbereich $\mathbf{3}$ – Mathematik und miormati

A comprehensive model of thermo-elasto-plasticity with phase transitions in steel

Sören Boettcher Michael Böhm Michael Wolff

Report 13–01

Berichte aus der Technomathematik

Report 13-01

April 2013

A comprehensive model of thermo-elasto-plasticity with phase transitions in steel

S. Boettcher^{a,1}, M. Böhm^{b,2}, M. Wolff^{b,3}

^aBremen Institute for Mechanical Engineering (bime), Fachbereich 4, Universität Bremen ^bCenter for Industrial Mathematics (ZeTeM), Fachbereich 3, Universität Bremen

Abstract

This work deals with mathematical modeling of processes involved in the quenching process of steel. It is the aim to provide a comprehensive model of thermo-elasto-plasticity with phase transitions in steel for small deformations, which integrates the complex behavior of steel materials in general models of thermo-elasto-plasticity and deals with the modeling of the mathematical problem of linear thermo-elasto-plasticity, taking into account phase transitions and transformation-induced plasticity. Moreover, the qualitative behavior of the solution is illustrated for the Jominy-End-Quench-Test in a simple numerical simulation.

Kurzfassung

Diese Arbeit befasst sich mit der mathematischen Modellierung von Abschreckprozessen bei Stahlbauteilen. Das Ziel ist es, ein Gesamtmodell für kleine Deformationen bereitzustellen, welches das komplexe physikalische Materialverhalten von Stahl in allgemeinere Modelle der Thermo-Elasto-Plastizität einbindet und somit das mathematische Problem der linearen Thermo-Elasto-Plastizität unter Berücksichtigung von Phasentransformationen und Umwandlungsplastizität beschreibt. Darüberhinaus ist das qualitative Lösungsverhalten für ein Beispielproblem anhand des Jominy-End-Abschreck-Tests dargestellt.

Keywords

Steel, material behavior, distortion engineering, phase transitions, TRIP, coupling of TRIP and plasticity, Jominy-End-Quench-Test

AMS subject classifications

35Q72, 74A15, 74C05, 74F05, 74N99

Acknowledgments

This work has partially been supported by the German Research Foundation (DFG) via the Collaborative Research Center (SFB) 570 'Distortion Engineering' at the University of Bremen, Germany.

¹Corresponding author, boettcher@mechanik.uni-bremen.de, Am Biologischen Garten 2, D-28359 Bremen

²mbohm@math.uni-bremen.de, Bibilothekstraße 1, D-28359 Bremen

 $^{{}^3}$ mwolff@math.uni-bremen.de, Bibilothekstraße 1, D-28359 Bremen

Contents

1	Introduction						
	1.1	Steel	3				
	1.2	Heat treatment processes	3				
	1.3	Literature review: Coupled models for material behavior of steel	3				
	1.4	Scope	3				
	1.5	Outline	4				
2	Modeling of material behavior of steel						
	2.1	Governing equations	4				
	2.2	Phase transitions	5				
	2.3	Decomposition of the strain tensor	5				
	2.4	Thermo-elasticity relation	6				
	2.5	Plasticity	6				
	2.6	Transformation-induced plasticity (TRIP)	7				
	2.7	Isotropic and kinematic hardening	7				
	2.8	Initial and boundary conditions	9				
	2.9	Complete model of material behavior	9				
	2.10	General model for phase transitions in steel	10				
	2.11	Equivalent formulation of TRIP	11				
	2.12	Equivalent formulation of plasticity	12				
3	Numerical Examples 14						
	3.1	Description of the setting	14				
	3.2	Literature review: Numerical simulation for thermo-mechanical models	15				
	3.3	Numerical Implementation	15				
	3.4	Simulation results and conclusion	17				
4	Disc	ussion and outlook	19				

1 Introduction

Today, steel is one of the most common materials in industry. The world steel production, with more than 1.3 billion tons produced annually, takes the second place behind cement. Steel and iron materials are used in various areas, very often with high quality requirements according geometry, structure, surface finish, hardness and other properties of the components for questions of production and processing of modern steels. This creates a major challenge for the prediction of the material behavior, i.e. stress, strain and phase composition.

The modeling and the simulation of essential effects can help to gain a deeper understanding of the material behavior. An important goal is to minimize the distortion at the end of the production process, i.e. the unwanted or undesirable deviation from the norm geometry.

Controlling distortion in the manufacturing process, especially in heat treatment processes of steel, remains a complex problem even today for the significant distortion potential of steel workpieces, and the costs of compensating distortion failures of wrought component parts are considerably large. Therefore it is a major interest to understand the causes of distortion in every production step in detail, cf. [HKLM02, WBBD12].

1.1 Steel

Steel is an iron-carbon alloy with a carbon content between 0.002% and 2.1% by weight. It is (in the solid state) a polycrystalline material. Macroscopic phenomena in steel are the possible solid-solid phase transformations, which are strongly influenced by the history of the temperature and the carbon content (cf. e.g. [Dah93, WW04, BT06]). Phase transitions, which occur during the heat treatment of steel materials, e.g. heating and quenching, are connected with volume changes and heat effects. This results in a time- and temperature-dependent stress distribution and deformation, which are crucial for the result of heat treatment processes.

Another important phenomenon is the transformation-induced plasticity (TRIP) with appears in connection with phase transformations. TRIP already occurs under deviatoric stresses and leads to permanent deformation at relatively low stress, even if the yield stress of the softer phase is not reached. This effect cannot be explained by classical plasticity at the macroscopic level of modeling (cf. e.g. [Mit87, FST96, Fis97, FRW⁺00, DL06, DLZ06]).

1.2 Heat treatment processes

The condition in which workpieces and tools made of steel are processed fulfills rarely the needs arising from the intended purpose. Therefore, it is necessary to change the condition of the steel material, e.g. by heat treatment, in order to modify the material properties w.r.t. the different conditions needed in the specific application (cf. e.g. [Hor92, Koh94] for details). Such hardening treatments set up large internal strains in the metal and cause distortion of steel components during the production process.

1.3 Literature review: Coupled models for material behavior of steel

Some references that exist associated with the problem of interest are given afterwards. More detailed information are given in [Boe12a].

For coupled models dealing with the material behavior of steel there exists literature in a smaller scale. Problems of thermo-elasticity are treated in [Wei09], modeling of elasto-plastic problems can be found in [Pal98, Lub02]. In connection with phase transitions a thermo-plastic problem is discussed in [DB04a] and the coupling with an elasto-plastic problem can be found in [DB04b]. In [IW85] stress, temperature and phase transitions are coupled. TRIP and plasticity are considered in [TP06]. Coupled models of thermo-elasto-plasticity with phase transitions and TRIP are discussed in [WB03, WBS05, WBT11] for small deformations. An important contribution to the modeling of thermo-elasto-plasticity with phase transitions and TRIP are discussed in the basis of this work are [WBH08, WBMS11]. In [MWSB12] a corresponding model is formulated within a thermodynamic framework at large strains. Coupled models that neglect the classical plasticity are discussed in e.g. [WBS04, WB06, WBS06, WBB07]. For such models dimensional analysis (cf. [WBF08]), carbon diffusion (cf. [WABM06]) and creep (cf. [WB10, BWD⁺11]) are investigated.

1.4 Scope

This work is concerned with mathematical modeling of thermo-elasto-plasticity with phase transitions in steel of processes involved in the quenching process of steel workpieces. Therefore, it is positioned in the overlap of two scientific disciplines: applied mathematics and materials science. The considered physical processes are heat conduction, phase transformations, thermo-elasticity, classical plasticity and TRIP.

Stress- and strain-dependent phase transformations, TRIP and its interactions with classical plasticity are important phenomena of both theoretical and practical interest in the material

behavior, as they may cause distortion of steel work-pieces. Therefore the idea came up to integrate the complex behavior of steel materials (especially the phase transformations and TRIP) in general models of thermo-elasto-plasticity as a prototypical example for heat treatment processes of steel components (cf. [WBH08, WBMS11] for instance). The steel is assumed as a co-existing mixture of its phases (or components), while diffusion processes are not considered in this work. Usually, diffusion of the phases is not designated in macroscopic models and the (macroscopic) carbon diffusion is primarily interesting in order to investigate special heat treatment processes, like carburizing (or carbonization, cf. [Lie09]). In this case, the model has to be extended by adding an equation describing the carbon concentration (cf. [WABM06] for an ansatz).

The main objective of this work is the formulation of a (mathematical) model of TRIP and their interaction with classical plasticity in the framework of small deformations. To sum up, the results provide a theoretical basis for further mathematical investigation or the efficient implementation of numerical algorithms suitable for real-world applications.

1.5 Outline

After the introduction in the first section, the modeling and the simulation are contained in sec. 2 and sec. 3, followed by a discussion and outlook in the last section. In sec. 1, some citations for well-known models for material behavior of steel are provided. The aim of sec. 2 is to formulate the model of linear thermo-elasto-plasticity with phase transitions and TRIP, describing the material behavior of steel in the context of macroscopic continuum mechanics and to discuss the capabilities. Due to the possible interaction (coupling) of transformation-induced and classical plasticity, the usual approach in plasticity without phase transformations has to be modified substantially. Numerical simulations of the fully coupled problem are illustrated in sec. 3 via the Jominy-End-Quench-Test.

2 Modeling of material behavior of steel

This section deals with the formulation of a complex (macroscopic) model of the material behavior of steel including specific phenomena like stress-dependent phase transitions, TRIP and the possible interaction with classical plasticity developed in [WBH08, WBMS11] for small deformations.

2.1 Governing equations

A material body will be identified with its reference configuration $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^3$. In the framework of small deformations we have the well-known balance equations for linear momentum and energy:

(1)
$$\rho_0 \frac{\partial^2 \mathbf{u}}{\partial t^2} - \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}) = \mathbf{f},$$
(2)
$$\rho_0 \frac{\partial e}{\partial t^2} + \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}) = \mathbf{f},$$

(2)
$$\rho_0 \frac{\partial e}{\partial t} + \operatorname{div}(\mathbf{q}) = \boldsymbol{\sigma} : \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}}{\partial t} + r.$$

Moreover, the second law of thermodynamics is applied in the form of the Clausius-Duhem inequality:

(3)
$$-\rho_0 \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial t} - \rho_0 \eta \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial t} + \boldsymbol{\sigma} : \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}}{\partial t} - \frac{1}{\theta} \mathbf{q} \cdot \nabla \theta \ge 0.$$

The relations (1) – (3) have to be fulfilled in the space-time domain $\Omega \times]0, T[, T \in \mathbb{R}$. The notations are standard: ρ_0 – bulk density in the reference configuration, i.e. for t = 0, **u** – displacement vector, $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}$ – (linearized) Green strain tensor, θ – absolute temperature, $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$ – Cauchy

stress tensor, \mathbf{f} – volume density of external forces, e – mass density of internal energy, \mathbf{q} – heat flux, r – volume density of heat supply, ψ – mass density of free (or Helmholtz) energy, η – mass density of entropy. Note the relations:

(4)
$$\boldsymbol{\varepsilon} = \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}(\mathbf{u}) \coloneqq \frac{1}{2} \left(\nabla \mathbf{u} + \nabla \mathbf{u}^T \right), \qquad \mathbf{u} = (u_1, u_2, u_3)^T \qquad \text{and}$$

(5)
$$\psi := e - \theta \eta.$$

2.2 Phase transitions

The evolution of phase fractions is given by the ODEs

(6)
$$\frac{\partial p_i}{\partial t} = \gamma_i \left(\mathbf{p}, \theta, \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial t}, \boldsymbol{\sigma}, \boldsymbol{\xi} \right)$$
 $(i = 1, \dots, m)$ $(m \ge 2)$

In general, the phase evolution may depend on internal variables labeled by $\boldsymbol{\xi}$. Here, \mathbf{p} denotes (p_1, \ldots, p_m) . Moreover, the phase (mass) fractions p_i of the *i*th phase $(i = 1, \ldots, m)$ have to fulfill the subsequent balance and non-negativity relations

(7)
$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} p_i = 1, \qquad p_i \ge 0 \qquad \text{for} \qquad i = 1, \dots, m$$

which implies $\sum_{i=1}^{m} \gamma_i = 0$. More detailed information are given in sec. 2.10.

2.3 Decomposition of the strain tensor

As usual in the theory of small deformations (using geometric linearization), the linearized Green strain tensor ε is decomposed into the following three components

(8)
$$\varepsilon = \varepsilon_{te} + \varepsilon_{trip} + \varepsilon_{cp},$$

where ε_{te} – thermoelastic strain (including (isotropic) density variations due to temperature changes and phase transformations), ε_{trip} – (non-isotropic) strain due to TRIP and ε_{cp} – strain due to (classical) plasticity. Because of the two mechanisms for plasticity (interaction between classical plasticity and TRIP), the considered model is an concrete example of a socalled two-mechanism model (cf. [WT08, WBT10, Saï11, WBT11] for multi-mechanism models). Sometimes, ε_{te} is also split up into a pure elastic part, a pure thermal part and a part only due to phase changes. Viscosity and creep effects are not taken into account. In principal, they could be considered analogously with some modifications (cf. e.g. [WB10, BWD⁺11, KBW12, WBBK12]). As usual, the inelastic strains are assumed to be volume-preserving, i.e.

(9)
$$\operatorname{tr}(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{trip}) = 0 \implies \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{trip} = \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{trip}^*$$
 and $\operatorname{tr}(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp}) = 0 \implies \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp} = \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp}^*$.

We remark that classical plasticity and TRIP act by the stress deviator on the deformation. For later on, the accumulated plastic and TRIP strain are given via:

(10)
$$s_{cp} := \int_0^t \sqrt{\frac{2}{3}} \frac{\partial \varepsilon_{cp}}{\partial \tau} : \frac{\partial \varepsilon_{cp}}{\partial \tau} \,\mathrm{d}\tau \qquad \text{and} \qquad s_{trip} := \int_0^t \sqrt{\frac{2}{3}} \frac{\partial \varepsilon_{trip}}{\partial \tau} : \frac{\partial \varepsilon_{trip}}{\partial \tau} \,\mathrm{d}\tau.$$

2.4 Thermo-elasticity relation

The material law (11) is a generalization of the so-called Duhamel-Neumann's law (or generalized Hooke's law) of the classical (linear) thermo-elasticity for isotropic bodies, cf. e.g. [WBH08, WBMS11]. The last term in (11) takes the density changes as a result of phase transitions into account. In order to separate this part from the thermal expansion, the phase densities appear at the initial temperature. The stress tensor $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$ and the thermoelastic part $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{te}$ of the strain tensor are connected by the law of thermo-elasticity taking density changes due to phase transformations into account:

(11)
$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} = 2\mu\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{te}^* + K\mathrm{tr}(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{te})\mathrm{Id} - 3K_{\alpha}\left(\theta - \theta_0\right)\mathrm{Id} - K\sum_{i=1}^m \left(\frac{\rho_0}{\rho_i(\theta_0)} - 1\right)p_i\mathrm{Id},$$

where μ – shear modulus, K – compression (bulk) modulus, $K_{\alpha} := K\alpha$ – modulus taking compression and linear heat-dilatation of the bulk material into account, $\rho_i(\theta_0)$ – density of the *i*th phase phase at initial temperature θ_0 , i.e. at t = 0. The deviator $\varepsilon_{te}^* := \varepsilon_{te} - \frac{1}{3} \operatorname{tr}(\varepsilon_{te}) \operatorname{Id}$ can be written as $\varepsilon_{te}^* = \varepsilon^* - \varepsilon_{trip} - \varepsilon_{cp}$, using (8). Alternatively, the last two terms in (11) may be written as a sum

(12)
$$\frac{1}{3} \frac{\rho_0 - \rho(\theta)}{\rho_0} \operatorname{Id} = \alpha \left(\theta - \theta_0\right) \operatorname{Id} + \frac{1}{3} \frac{\rho_0 - \rho(\theta_0)}{\rho_0} \operatorname{Id},$$

where $\rho(\theta)$ – current density related to the current temperature using (7) and a mixture rule for density, cf. [WBD03]. The stress in (11) can be alternatively defined by using Young's modulus and Poisson's ratio or the Lamé constants instead of using bulk and shear modulus. We have

(13)
$$\lambda := K - \frac{2\mu}{3}, \qquad \nu := \frac{3K - 2\mu}{2(3K + \mu)}, \qquad E := \frac{9K\mu}{3K + \mu},$$

where λ – Lamé's first coefficient, ν – Poission's ration and E – Young's modulus.

2.5 Plasticity

Using the von Mises criterion (cf. [LC90, Lem01] for generalizations), the material behavior is constrained by

(14)
$$F(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \mathbf{X}_{cp}, R_0, R) \coloneqq \sqrt{\frac{3}{2} \left(\boldsymbol{\sigma}^* - \mathbf{X}_{cp}^* \right) \colon \left(\boldsymbol{\sigma}^* - \mathbf{X}_{cp}^* \right) - (R_0 + R) \le 0,$$

which is a restriction on the deviator of the effective stress $\sigma^* - \mathbf{X}_{cp}^*$. The notations are: F – yield function, σ – stress deviator, \mathbf{X}_{cp} – back-stress associated with plasticity (with tr(\mathbf{X}_{cp}) = 0, cf. e.g. [WBT10] for details), R_0 – initial radius of the yield sphere in the stress space (or initial yield stress), R – its possible increment due to isotropic hardening. The evolution of the plastic strain ε_{cp} is governed by the flow rule:

(15)
$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp}}{\partial t} = \Lambda \left(\boldsymbol{\sigma}^* - \mathbf{X}_{cp}^* \right),$$

where the plastic multiplier Λ has to fulfill

- (16) $\Lambda = 0,$ if $F(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \mathbf{X}_{cp}, R_0, R) < 0$ and
- (17) $\Lambda \ge 0$, if $F(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \mathbf{X}_{cp}, R_0, R) = 0$ (yield condition).

Thus, plastic deformation is only possible, if the yield condition (17) is fulfilled. The relation (15) - (17) is equivalent to a variational inequality, cf. sec. 2.12.

2.6 Transformation-induced plasticity (TRIP)

Phase transformations under non-vanishing deviatoric (non-isotropic) stress yield a permanent deviatoric deformation which cannot be described by classical plasticity at the macroscopic level. It is assumed that TRIP has no yield condition and that its evolution can be described by

(18)
$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{trip}}{\partial t} = b \left(\boldsymbol{\sigma}^* - \mathbf{X}_{trip}^* \right)$$

where \mathbf{X}_{trip} – back-stress associated with TRIP (with $\text{tr}(\mathbf{X}_{cp}) = 0$, cf. e.g. [WBT10] for details) and $b \geq 0$ depends essentially on the phase evolution. One proposal for TRIP in the multi-phase case (based on the Franitza-Mitter-Leblond ansatz, cf. e.g. [WBS09]) is:

(19)
$$b = \frac{3}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \kappa_i \frac{\partial \phi_i}{\partial p_i} (p_i) \max\left\{\frac{\partial p_i}{\partial t}, 0\right\}$$

where κ_i – Greenwood-Johnson parameter (may depend on temperature and stress direction, cf. e.g. [WBH08]) and $\phi_i \in C^{0,1}([0,1]) \cap C^1([0,1[))$ – saturation function of the *i*th phase satisfying

(20)
$$\kappa_i \ge 0,$$
 $\phi(0) = 0,$ $\phi(1) = 1,$ $\frac{\partial \phi_i}{\partial p_i}(p) \ge 0$ f.a. 0

The function ϕ_i describes the dependence of the transformed phase fraction p_i on the strain due to TRIP. Cf. sec. 2.11 for an equivalent formulation of (18).

Remark 1 (Proposals for saturation functions). There are various proposals for saturation functions in the literature (cf. [WBDL03]), partially based on experiments, partially derived from theoretical considerations:

$$\begin{split} \phi(p) &= p & (\text{Tanaka}), \\ \phi(p) &= p(2-p) & (\text{Desalos, Denis}), \\ \phi(p) &= p(1-\ln(p)) & (\text{Leblond}), \\ \phi(p) &= p(3-2\sqrt{p}) & (\text{Abrassart}). \end{split}$$

2.7 Isotropic and kinematic hardening

For further investigations, it is very useful to get more information about the isotropic hardening variable R. The following ansatz is suggested in [WBH08, WBMS11]:

(21)
$$R(t) = \gamma_{cp} \left(s_{cp}(t) - \int_0^t \frac{\beta_{cp}}{\gamma_{cp}} R \frac{\partial s_{cp}}{\partial s}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \right)$$

as well as the linear ODE (differentiating (21))

(22)
$$\frac{\partial R}{\partial t} = \gamma_{cp} \frac{\partial s_{cp}}{\partial t} - \left(\beta \frac{\partial s_{cp}}{\partial t} - \frac{\partial \gamma_{cp}}{\partial t}\right) R.$$

Clearly, the solution of the ODE (22) (for the initial value R(0) = 0) reads as

(23)
$$R(t) = \gamma_{cp} \int_0^t \frac{\partial s_{cp}}{\partial s} \exp\left(-\int_0^s \beta_{cp} \frac{\partial s_{cp}}{\partial \tau} \,\mathrm{d}\tau\right) \,\mathrm{d}s.$$

Moreover, one gets the following estimate

(24)
$$0 \le R = R(t) \le \frac{\gamma_{cp}}{\min(\beta_{cp})} \left(1 - \exp\left(-\min(\beta_{cp})s_{cp}\right)\right).$$

In general, the parameters β_{cp} and γ_{cp} depend on the temperature and the phase fractions. Therefore, R is a slope of s_{cp} for constant β_{cp} and γ_{cp} , i.e. $R = \frac{\gamma_{cp}}{\beta_{cp}} \left(1 - \exp\left(-\beta_{cp}s_{cp}\right)\right)$. The curve R has its decline γ_{cp} and its saturation value is $\frac{\gamma_{cp}}{\beta_{cp}}$. Besides this, R is an increasing function of s_{cp} , as one expects in isotropic hardening (cf. [WBH08]): $0 \le R \le \frac{\gamma_{cp}}{\beta_{cp}}$, $0 \le \frac{\partial R}{\partial t} \le \gamma_{cp} \frac{\partial s_{cp}}{\partial t}$.

The general model leads to the following equations for the back-stresses, cf. [WBH08, WBMS11]:

(25)
$$\mathbf{X}_{cp}(t) = c_{cp} \left(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp} - \int_0^t \frac{a_{cp}}{c_{cp}} \mathbf{X}_{cp} \frac{\partial s_{cp}}{\partial s} \,\mathrm{d}s \right) + c_{int} \left(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{trip} - \int_0^t \frac{a_{trip}}{c_{trip}} \mathbf{X}_{trip} \frac{\partial s_{trip}}{\partial s} \,\mathrm{d}s \right),$$

(26)
$$\mathbf{X}_{trip}(t) = c_{int} \left(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp} - \int_0^s \frac{a_{cp}}{c_{cp}} \mathbf{X}_{cp} \frac{\partial s_{cp}}{\partial s} \,\mathrm{d}s \right) + c_{trip} \left(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{trip} - \int_0^s \frac{a_{trip}}{c_{trip}} \mathbf{X}_{trip} \frac{\partial s_{trip}}{\partial s} \,\mathrm{d}s \right).$$

These relations may be understood as generalizations of the well-known Armstrong-Frederick equations in plasticity (cf. [LC90, JK96, Hau02]). For a constant coefficient c_{cp} and without TRIP, from (25) follows the classical Armstrong-Frederick equation for non-linear hardening:

(27)
$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{X}_{cp}}{\partial t} = c_{cp} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp}}{\partial t} - a_{cp} \mathbf{X}_{cp} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{s}_{cp}}{\partial t}$$

In a similar manner, for constant c_{trip} and without classical plasticity, from (26) follows an analogon for TRIP

(28)
$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{X}_{trip}}{\partial t} = c_{trip} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{trip}}{\partial t} - a_{trip} \mathbf{X}_{trip} \frac{\partial s_{trip}}{\partial t}.$$

For a given evolution of θ , **p**, ε_{cp} and ε_{trip} (and therefore s_{cp} and s_{trip}), (25) and (26) are a coupled system of Volterra integral equations with a unique solution (\mathbf{X}_{cp} , \mathbf{X}_{trip}) (in the class of continuous functions under suitable conditions). It is well-known, that in the case of purely classical plasticity the Armstrong-Frederick equation (27) leads to a bounded back-stress for given ε_{cp} (saturation effect, cf. e.g. [WBH08]). A similar result for the case of coupled back-stresses \mathbf{X}_{cp} and \mathbf{X}_{trip} is not obvious. For constant c_{cp} , c_{int} , c_{trip} , the differentiation of (25) and (26) yields the following coupled system of ODEs

(29)
$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{X}_{cp}}{\partial t} = c_{cp} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp}}{\partial t} - a_{cp} \mathbf{X}_{cp} \frac{\partial s_{cp}}{\partial t} + c_{int} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{trip}}{\partial t} - \frac{c_{int} a_{trip}}{c_{trip}} \mathbf{X}_{trip} \frac{\partial s_{trip}}{\partial t},$$

(30)
$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{X}_{trip}}{\partial t} = c_{int} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp}}{\partial t} - \frac{c_{int} a_{cp}}{c_{cp}} \mathbf{X}_{cp} \frac{\partial s_{cp}}{\partial t} + c_{trip} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{trip}}{\partial t} - a_{trip} \mathbf{X}_{trip} \frac{\partial s_{trip}}{\partial t}$$

This linear system of ODEs has a unique solution (for given evolution of ε_{cp} and ε_{trip}). Using the results from the theory of ODEs, one obtains the following results:

Lemma 1 (Boundedness of the back-stresses). Under the assumptions c_{cp} , c_{int} , c_{trip} , a_{cp} , a_{trip} are constant, a_{cp} , $a_{trip} > 0$ and $c_{int}^2 < c_{cp} c_{trip}$ the back-stresses are bounded

$$|\mathbf{X}_{cp}(\mathbf{x},t)| \le c < \infty, \qquad |\mathbf{X}_{trip}(\mathbf{x},t)| \le c < \infty \qquad f.a. \ (\mathbf{x},t) \in \Omega \times]0, T[$$

and

$$\|\boldsymbol{\sigma}^* - \mathbf{X}_{cp}^*\| \le c < \infty, \quad \|\boldsymbol{\sigma}^*\| \le c < \infty, \quad \|\boldsymbol{\sigma}^* - \mathbf{X}_{trip}^*\| \le c < \infty, \quad \|\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{te}^*\| \le c < \infty.$$

These results can also be obtained in case of general a_{cp} , a_{trip} , c_{cp} , c_{int} and c_{trip} . The global boundedness of \mathbf{X}_{cp} , \mathbf{X}_{trip} , R, σ^* and ε_{te}^* (uniformly w.r.t. ε_{cp} , ε_{trip} , s_{cp} and s_{trip}) is an important consequence of the general nonlinear hardening. In contrast to this, the case $a_{cp} = a_{trip} = \beta_{cp} = 0$ leads to a linear relation between \mathbf{X}_{cp} , \mathbf{X}_{trip} , ε_{cp} , ε_{trip} , R and s_{cp} . Thus, the model has an unbounded growth of the hardening variables for unbounded growing strains in this case. Moreover, the stress deviator might be growing unbounded, too.

Remark 2. The hardening variable R and the back-stresses \mathbf{X}_{cp} and \mathbf{X}_{trip} can be obtained as internal variables in a thermo-mechanical framework. R is a scalar having the character of a stress. The quantities \mathbf{X}_{cp} , \mathbf{X}_{trip} , and R may be considered as thermodynamic forces (cf. [WBH08] for details).

2.8 Initial and boundary conditions

Finally, the following initial conditions f.a. \mathbf{x} in Ω are assumed:

(31)
$$\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x},0) = \mathbf{u}_0(\mathbf{x}), \qquad \frac{\partial \mathbf{u}}{\partial t}(\mathbf{x},0) = \mathbf{u}_1(\mathbf{x}), \qquad \theta(\mathbf{x},0) = \theta_0(\mathbf{x}),$$

(32)
$$\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{trip}(\mathbf{x},0) = \mathbf{0}, \qquad \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp}(\mathbf{x},0) = \mathbf{0}, \qquad \boldsymbol{\xi}(\mathbf{x},0) = \boldsymbol{\xi}_0(\mathbf{x}),$$

$$(33) \qquad \mathbf{p}(\mathbf{x},0) = \mathbf{p}_0(\mathbf{x})$$

m

with

(34)
$$\sum_{i=1} p_{0i} = 1, \qquad p_{0i} \ge 0 \qquad \text{for} \qquad i = 1, \dots, m.$$

Furthermore, boundary conditions for **u** and θ have to be added. There are mixed boundary conditions for **u** assumed:

(35)
$$\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{0}$$
 f.a. points in Γ_1 , $\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\Gamma_2} = \mathbf{0}$ f.a. points in Γ_2 .

where Γ_1 and Γ_2 are mutually disjoint parts of the boundary of Ω s.t. meas(Γ_1) > 0 and Γ_1 is closed and ν_{Γ_2} is the outward unit normal vector on Γ_2 (this case without any boundary load is important e.g. in heat treatment processes, where no load is applied on the surface). Let the temperature fulfill the Robin condition

(36)
$$-\lambda_{\theta} \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\Gamma}} = \delta \left(\theta - \theta_{\Gamma} \right) \text{ on } \partial \Omega \times]0, T[,$$

where λ_{θ} – heat conductivity, δ – heat-exchange coefficient, θ_{Γ} – temperature of the surrounding medium and ν_{Γ} – outward unit normal vector to the boundary $\partial\Omega$.

2.9 Complete model of material behavior

Modeling the relevant interactions between temperature, mechanical behavior and phase transitions leads to an initial boundary value problem (IBVP) for a system of coupled nonlinear partial and ordinary differential equations and inequalities for the time and space-dependent temperature, displacement and phase fractions. Summarizing all the model equations needed to describe the evolution of displacement, temperature and phase fractions leads to the following IBVP: Find the displacement $\mathbf{u}: \Omega \times [0, T] \to \mathbb{R}^3$ s.t.

$$\rho_{0} \frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{u}}{\partial t^{2}} - 2 \operatorname{div}(\mu \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}(\mathbf{u})) - \operatorname{grad}(\lambda \operatorname{div}(\mathbf{u})) + 3 \operatorname{grad}(K_{\alpha}(\theta - \theta_{0})) + \operatorname{grad}(K \sum_{i=1}^{m} \left(\frac{\rho_{0}}{\rho_{i}(\theta_{0})} - 1\right) p_{i}) + 2 \operatorname{div}(\mu \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{trip}) + 2 \operatorname{div}(\mu \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp}) = \mathbf{f} \quad \text{in} \quad \Omega \times]0, T[,$$

the temperature $\theta : \Omega \times [0, T] \to \mathbb{R}$ s.t.

$$\rho_0 c_e \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial t} - \operatorname{div} \left(\lambda_\theta \nabla \theta \right) = (\boldsymbol{\sigma} - \mathbf{X}_{cp}) : \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp}}{\partial t} + (\boldsymbol{\sigma} - \mathbf{X}_{trip}) : \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{trip}}{\partial t} +$$

$$+ \theta \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\sigma}}{\partial \theta} : \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{te}}{\partial t} + \theta \frac{\partial \mathbf{X}_{cp}}{\partial \theta} : \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp}}{\partial t} + \theta \frac{\partial \mathbf{X}_{trip}}{\partial \theta} : \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{trip}}{\partial t} + \rho_0 \sum_{i=2}^m L_i \frac{\partial p_i}{\partial t} + r \quad \text{in} \quad \Omega \times]0, T[$$

and the phase fractions $\mathbf{p}: \Omega \times [0, T[\to \mathbb{R}^m \text{ s.t.}]$

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{p}}{\partial t} = \boldsymbol{\gamma} \left(\mathbf{p}, \theta, \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial t}, \operatorname{tr}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}), \boldsymbol{\sigma}^* : \boldsymbol{\sigma}^* \right) \quad \text{in} \quad \Omega \times]0, T[$$

including the relations (4), (8), (14) in combination with (23) and

$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp}}{\partial t} = \Lambda \left(\boldsymbol{\sigma}^* - \mathbf{X}_{cp}^* \right), \quad \Lambda \ge 0 \text{ for } F = 0 \text{ and } \Lambda = 0 \text{ for } F < 0 \quad \text{ in } \quad \Omega \times]0, T[s]$$

$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{trip}}{\partial t} = \frac{3}{2} \left(\boldsymbol{\sigma}^* - \mathbf{X}_{trip}^* \right) \sum_{i=1}^m \kappa_i \frac{\partial \phi_i}{\partial p_i}(p_i) \max\left\{ \frac{\partial p_i}{\partial t}, 0 \right\} \quad \text{in} \quad \Omega \times]0, T[s]$$

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{X}_{cp}}{\partial t} = c_{cp} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp}}{\partial t} - a_{cp} \mathbf{X}_{cp} \frac{\partial s_{cp}}{\partial t} + c_{int} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{trip}}{\partial t} - \frac{c_{int} a_{trip}}{c_{trip}} \mathbf{X}_{trip} \frac{\partial s_{trip}}{\partial t} \quad \text{in} \quad \Omega \times]0, T[$$

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{X}_{trip}}{\partial t} = c_{int} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp}}{\partial t} - \frac{c_{int} a_{cp}}{c_{cp}} \mathbf{X}_{cp} \frac{\partial s_{cp}}{\partial t} + c_{trip} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{trip}}{\partial t} - a_{trip} \mathbf{X}_{trip} \frac{\partial s_{trip}}{\partial t} \quad \text{in} \quad \Omega \times]0, T[$$

as well as initial values (31) - (33) and boundary values (35) - (36).

In [WBH08] (cf. also [MWSB12]) was proven that

Lemma 2 (Thermo-dynamic consistency). The presented bulk model is thermo-dynamic consistent, i.e. the dissipation inequality (3) is fulfilled (under reasonable assumptions).

Remark 3. As in the theory of linear thermo-elasticity for small deformations commonly accepted, one obtains (cf. e.g. [JR00]) the following approximation of the thermo-mechanical dissipation

(37)
$$\theta \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\sigma}}{\partial \theta} : \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{te}}{\partial t} = -3 K_{\alpha} \theta_0 \operatorname{div} \left(\frac{\partial \mathbf{u}}{\partial t} \right),$$

where θ_0 denotes a (constant) reference temperature close to the actual temperature. Furthermore, the material parameters are assumed to be real constants.

2.10 General model for phase transitions in steel

Isothermal diffusive transformations are well described by the Johnson-Mehl-Avrami-Kolmogorov kinetics (cf. e.g. [WBB07]) and models for martensitic transformation are based on the Koistinen-Marburger equation (cf. [KM59]), but there are some essential open questions in modeling the non-isothermal transformation and phase transformations under stress. In [WBB07] one can find a good description of a phenomenological model for phase transformations, but there are a lot of proposals for modifications and generalizations of phenomenological models for phase transformations, cf. e.g. [LMDD85, Vis87, FBTO94, Höm95, MS02, WBS03, AGC04, BHSW04]. In this section, (6) is specialized in order to obtain applicable models for phase transformations for multi-phase simultaneous and consecutive reactions. In the context of macroscopic modeling, we consider steel as a coexisting mixture of $m \ (m \geq 2)$ phases (or constituents), which differ in their micro-structure and have different material parameters. These phases are assumed to be continuously distributed in the model, so that the steel appears as a co-existing mixture of its phases (or components), while diffusion processes (of the phases) are neglected, i.e. they stay at their original places of formation. Moreover, we do not consider carbon diffusion, cf. [WABM06].

The considerations below are not only valid for phase transformations in steel, but also for general (chemical or other) reactions in coexisting mixtures without diffusion of the constituents. The following general model for phase transformations in steel is proposed in [WBB07]. The change of p_i in favor of p_j can be described by the transformation law

(38)
$$\frac{\partial p_i}{\partial t} = -\sum_{j=1}^m a_{ij} H(p_i) H(\bar{p}_{ij} - p_j) G_{ij} + \sum_{j=1}^m a_{ji} H(p_j) H(\bar{p}_{ji} - p_i) G_{ji}, \quad i = 1, \dots, m.$$

where H – Heaviside function, \bar{p}_{ij} – the equilibrium fraction (maximal possible fraction) \bar{p}_i of the *i*th phase ($\bar{p}_{ij} = 0$ if the phase transformation does not occur), G_{ij} a switch function, taking into account that the transformation of the *i*th phase into the *j*th phase (for $i \neq j, i, j = 1, \ldots, m$, abbr.: $i \rightarrow j$) takes place during a defined temperature interval and $-a_{ij}$ – transformation rate for the transformation $i \rightarrow j$. We specify the a_{ij} :

(39)
$$a_{ij} := (e_{ij}(\theta, \boldsymbol{\xi}) + p_j)^{r_{ij}(\theta, \boldsymbol{\xi})} (\bar{p}_{ij} - p_j)^{s_{ij}(\theta, \boldsymbol{\xi})} g_{ij}(\theta, \boldsymbol{\xi}) h_{ij} \left(\frac{\partial \theta}{\partial t}\right) \quad \text{for} \quad i, j = 1, \dots, m.$$

The parameters e_{ij} , r_{ij} , s_{ij} and g_{ij} have to fulfill $e_{ii} = r_{ii} = s_{ii} = g_{ii} = 0$ for $i = i, \ldots, m$ and

 $e_{ij} \ge 0, \qquad r_{ij} \ge 0, \qquad s_{ij} \ge 0, \qquad g_{ij} \ge 0, \qquad h_{ij} \ge 0 \qquad \text{f.a. admissible arguments.}$

Remark 4 (Leblond-Devaux proposal). A simple specialization of (38) consists of

(40)
$$\frac{\partial p_i}{\partial t} = -\mu_{ij} p_i$$

where the non-negative μ_{ij} may depend on the same arguments as a_{ij} in (39). This means that the decomposition rate of *i* into *j* is proportional to the fraction of *i* available for decomposition. In case of only two present phases this leads to

(41)
$$\frac{\partial p_1}{\partial t} = -\mu_{12}p_1, \quad p_1(0) = p_0 \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{\partial p_2}{\partial t} = \mu_{12}\left(\bar{p}_{12} - p_2\right), \quad p_2(0) = 0$$

for the forming phase ($\bar{p}_{12} = 1$), which is a special case of the Leblond-Devaux proposal. Leblond and Devaux suggested applying the linear approach to martensitic transformation as well. Due to Koistinen and Marburger (cf. e.g. [WBDH08] and generalizations of (42) in [WFL07]), the martensite fraction forming from a given (austenite) fraction p_1 at the temperature θ less than the martensite start temperature θ_{ms} reads as

(42)
$$\bar{p}_{12}(\theta) = p_1(t_{ms}) \left(1 - \exp\left(-\frac{\theta_{ms} - \theta}{\theta_{m0}}\right) \right).$$

2.11 Equivalent formulation of TRIP

Due (8) and (11) the following relations hold:

(43)
$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}^* = 2\mu \, \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{te}^* = 2\mu \left(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^*(\mathbf{u}) - \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{trip} - \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp} \right) \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{tr}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}) = 2\mu \operatorname{tr}(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}(\mathbf{u})) = 2\mu \operatorname{div}(\mathbf{u}).$$

Now, the problem (18), $(32)_1$ can be formulated as an equivalent initial value problem:

(44)
$$\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{trip}^{\prime}(t) = b(t) \left(2\mu \,\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{*}(\mathbf{u}(t)) - 2\mu \,\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp}(t) - \mathbf{X}_{trip}^{*} \right) - 2\mu \, b(t) \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{trip}(t), \qquad t \in]0, T[$$
(45)
$$\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{trip}(0) = \mathbf{0}$$

where b is defined as in (19) and \mathbf{X}_{trip}^* is the solution of (26). Therefore, the solution reads as

(46)
$$\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{trip}(t) = \int_0^t b(s) \exp\left(-\int_s^t 2\mu \, b(\tau) \, \mathrm{d}\tau\right) \left(2\mu \, \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^*(\mathbf{u}(s)) - 2\mu \, \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp}(s) - \mathbf{X}^*_{trip}\right) \, \mathrm{d}s$$

for $t \in [0, T[.$

2.12 Equivalent formulation of plasticity

0,

For further mathematical investigation it is convenient to reformulate the described model, using a variational inequality (or rather a differential inclusion) in order to characterize the plastic deformation. The following (original) problem is to find the strain $\varepsilon_{cp} : \Omega \times [0, T[\rightarrow \mathbb{R}^{3\times 3}_{\text{sym}}]$ with $\text{tr}(\varepsilon_{cp}) = 0$, s.t.

(47)
$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp}}{\partial t}(\mathbf{x},t) = \Lambda \left(\boldsymbol{\sigma}^*(\mathbf{x},t) - \mathbf{X}^*_{cp}(\mathbf{x},t)\right), \qquad (\mathbf{x},t) \in \Omega \times]0, T[$$

(48)
$$\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp}(\mathbf{x}, 0) =$$

where the plastic multiplier Λ has to fulfill (16) – (17) f.a. $\boldsymbol{\sigma} \in \mathbb{R}^{3 \times 3}_{\text{sym}}$ with $F(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \mathbf{X}_{cp}, R_0, R) \leq 0$. The plastic multiplier can also be expressed as $\Lambda = \frac{3}{2(R_0+R)} \frac{\partial s_{cp}}{\partial t}$, cf. [WBMS11]. Taking (47), (16) – (17) and the yield function (14) into account, (47) can be reformulated as

 $\mathbf{x} \in \Omega$,

(49)
$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp}}{\partial t} = \frac{2}{3} \Lambda(R_0 + R) \frac{\partial F}{\partial \boldsymbol{\sigma}}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \mathbf{X}_{cp}, R_0, R) = \tilde{\Lambda} \frac{\partial F}{\partial \boldsymbol{\sigma}}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \mathbf{X}_{cp}, R_0, R)$$

with a new multiplier Λ . This reformulation is often called 'normality rule', cf. [Mau92, Lub06]. We define $F : \mathbb{R}^{3\times3} \times \mathbb{R}^{3\times3} \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ via (14) for given \mathbf{X}_{cp} and for given constants $R_0, R \in \mathbb{R}^+$. The set of all admissible $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$ is convex (cf. [HR99]). We define

(50)
$$\mathbf{K}_{F} := \left\{ \boldsymbol{\tau} \in \mathbb{R}^{3 \times 3}_{\text{sym}}, \text{tr}(\boldsymbol{\tau}) = 0 : F(\boldsymbol{\tau}, \mathbf{X}_{cp}, R_{0}, R) \leq 0 \right\}, \\ \mathbf{K} := \left\{ \boldsymbol{\tau} \in [L^{2}(\Omega)]^{9} : \boldsymbol{\tau}(\mathbf{x}) \in \mathbf{K}_{F} \text{ f.a.a. } \mathbf{x} \in \Omega \right\}.$$

Remark 5 (Time- or parameter-dependent **K**). Due to the general time-dependence of R_0 and R, the set of admissible stresses varies in time, when considering a time-dependent process (cf. e.g. [HR99, HWR05, WBH08]). In [Mac92, CR06, BFM11] the yield function depends explicitly on the temperature. Therefore one defines F via

(51)

$$F(\boldsymbol{\tau}, \mathbf{X}_{cp}, R_0, R; \boldsymbol{\theta}, t) := \sqrt{\frac{3}{2}} \left(\boldsymbol{\sigma}^* - \mathbf{X}_{cp}^* \right) : \left(\boldsymbol{\sigma}^* - \mathbf{X}_{cp}^* \right) - \left(R_0 + R(\boldsymbol{\theta}, t) \right),$$

$$\mathbf{K}_F(\boldsymbol{\theta}, t) := \left\{ \boldsymbol{\tau} \in \mathbb{R}^{3 \times 3}_{\text{sym}}, \operatorname{tr}(\boldsymbol{\tau}) = 0 : F(\boldsymbol{\tau}, \mathbf{X}_{cp}, R_0, R; \boldsymbol{\theta}, t) \leq 0 \right\},$$

$$\mathbf{K}(\boldsymbol{\theta}, t) := \left\{ \boldsymbol{\tau} \in [L^2(\Omega)]^9 : \boldsymbol{\tau}(\mathbf{x}) \in \mathbf{K}_F(\boldsymbol{\theta}, t) \text{ f.a.a. } \mathbf{x} \in \Omega \right\}.$$

In general, the function R is not monotone and therefore, the set of space- and time-dependent functions generated by **K** (i.e. all L^2 -functions with values in **K** f.a.a. $t \in [0, T[)$ is in general not convex.

The constraint in (47) - (48) resp. (16) - (17) is non-linear. An adequate tool for dealing with non-linear constraints for equations is a variational inequality (cf. e.g. [HR99]). Based on the identity $\mathbf{A}^* : \mathbf{B}^* = \mathbf{A}^* : \mathbf{B} = \mathbf{A} : \mathbf{B} - \frac{1}{3} \operatorname{tr}(\mathbf{A}) \operatorname{tr}(\mathbf{B})$ for $\mathbf{A}, \mathbf{B} \in \mathbb{R}^9$, the relations (47) – (48), (17) and (14) are equivalent to the variational inequality

(52)
$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp}}{\partial t} : (\boldsymbol{\tau} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}) \le 0 \qquad \text{in} \qquad \Omega \times]0, T[$$

f.a. $\boldsymbol{\tau} \in \mathbb{R}^9$ with $\boldsymbol{\tau} = \boldsymbol{\tau}^T$ and $F(\boldsymbol{\tau}, \mathbf{X}_{cp}, R_0, R) \leq 0$, where $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$ has to fulfill (14).

Lemma 3. The set K is nonempty and convex.

Proof. Since $R_0 > 0$ and $R \ge 0$, one concludes that $\mathbf{0} \in \mathbf{K}_F$. Hence, \mathbf{K} is nonempty. Furthermore, let $\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \boldsymbol{\tau} \in \mathbf{K}$ and $\lambda \in [0, 1]$. Obviously, $\operatorname{tr}(\lambda \boldsymbol{\sigma} + (1 - \lambda)\boldsymbol{\tau}) = 0$ for $\operatorname{tr}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}) = \operatorname{tr}(\boldsymbol{\tau}) = 0$ and $\lambda \boldsymbol{\sigma} + (1 - \lambda)\boldsymbol{\tau} = (\lambda \boldsymbol{\sigma} + (1 - \lambda)\boldsymbol{\tau})^T$ for $\boldsymbol{\sigma} = \boldsymbol{\sigma}^T$ and $\boldsymbol{\tau} = \boldsymbol{\tau}^T$. Moreover, the convexity of the function F completes the proof.

Theorem 1 (Main result: Equivalent formulation of plasticity). For fixed \mathbf{X}_{cp} , R_0 and R let $F = F(\boldsymbol{\sigma})$ be a convex function $\mathbb{R}^{3\times3} \to \mathbb{R}$, which is differentiable in $\mathbb{R}^{3\times3} \setminus \{\mathbf{0}\}$ and fulfills $F(\mathbf{0}) < 0$. Moreover, let $\frac{\partial F}{\partial \boldsymbol{\sigma}}(\boldsymbol{\tau}) \neq 0$ f.a. $\boldsymbol{\tau} \in \mathbb{R}^{3\times3}$ with $\boldsymbol{\tau} = \boldsymbol{\tau}^T$ and $F(\boldsymbol{\tau}) = 0$. In addition, let $\boldsymbol{\sigma}^*(0) \in \mathbf{K}$. Assume (14) and (50) are given. Then, the normality rule (49) and the variational inequality (52) are equivalent.

Proof. The proof of the main theorem is divided into two parts:

- 1. The normality rule (49) implies the variational inequality (52). Equation (52) is obviously fulfilled for $\Lambda = 0$. For $\Lambda > 0$ it follows $F(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \mathbf{X}_{cp}, R_0, R) = 0$ and therefore $\frac{\partial F}{\partial \boldsymbol{\sigma}}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \mathbf{X}_{cp}, R_0, R) = \frac{3(\boldsymbol{\sigma}^* \mathbf{X}_{cp}^*)}{2(R_0 + R)} \neq 0$. Thus, $\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp}}{\partial t}$ and $\frac{\partial F}{\partial \boldsymbol{\sigma}}$ are parallel and have the same orientation. Because of the convexity of \mathbf{K}_F , it follows $\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp}}{\partial t} : (\boldsymbol{\tau}^* \boldsymbol{\sigma}^*) \leq 0$ in $\Omega \times]0, T[$ f.a. $\boldsymbol{\tau} \in \mathbb{R}^{3 \times 3}$ with $\boldsymbol{\tau} = \boldsymbol{\tau}^T$ and $F(\boldsymbol{\tau}) \leq 0$, which is equivalent to (52).
- 2. On the other hand, the variational inequality (52) implies the normality rule (49). If $F(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \mathbf{X}_{cp}, R_0, R) < 0$, then it follows $\boldsymbol{\sigma}^* \in \text{Int}(\mathbf{K}_F)$ and (52) implies $\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp}}{\partial t} = 0 = \tilde{\Lambda} \frac{\partial F}{\partial \boldsymbol{\sigma}}$ with $\tilde{\Lambda} = 0$, compatible with (17). Let $F(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \mathbf{X}_{cp}, R_0, R) = 0$. Hence, $\boldsymbol{\sigma}^* \in \partial \mathbf{K}_F$. Putting $\boldsymbol{\tau} = \boldsymbol{\sigma} + \mathbf{v}$ with $\mathbf{v} : \frac{\partial F}{\partial \boldsymbol{\sigma}} \leq 0$ s.t. $F(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \mathbf{X}_{cp}, R_0, R) \leq 0$ in (52) we have $\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp}}{\partial t} : \mathbf{v} \leq 0$ f.a. \mathbf{v} with $\mathbf{v} : \frac{\partial F}{\partial \boldsymbol{\sigma}} \leq 0$. Therefore, $\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp}}{\partial t}$ and $\frac{\partial F}{\partial \boldsymbol{\sigma}}$ are parallel and have the same orientation. Thus, (49) is valid.

As a result of the re-formulation via a variational inequality, the plastic multiplier is excluded. If $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$ fulfills (14) with a strong inequality, than (52) leads to $\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp}}{\partial t} = \mathbf{0}$, i.e. there is no plastic deformation. If no plastic deformation occurs, the model of 'thermo-elasticity with phase transitions and TRIP without classical plasticity' (cf. e.g. [Boe07, Ker11, Boe12b]) is directly applicable. The (mathematical) problem of perfect plasticity is e.g. discussed in [ER04].

In order to prepare further mathematical investigations, one can reformulate the variational inequality as a differential inclusion. This approach is also used in [ASS01] for instance. There are at least two possibilities when dealing with the variational inequality (52). Either one can exclude $\frac{\partial \varepsilon_{cp}}{\partial t}$ via $\boldsymbol{\sigma}^*$ or vice versa.

1. Eliminating $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$ in the variational inequality: Using (8) and (43) one rewrites (52). This leads to a new variational inequality for $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{te}^*$. For convenience we denote $\boldsymbol{\eta} := \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{te}^*$. Thus, we look for a function $\boldsymbol{\eta} : \Omega \times [0, T[\to \mathbb{R}^9, \text{ s.t.}]$

(53)
$$\operatorname{tr}(\boldsymbol{\eta}) = 0, \quad F(2\mu\,\boldsymbol{\eta}, \mathbf{X}_{cp}, R_0, R) \leq 0$$
$$\frac{\partial\boldsymbol{\eta}}{\partial t} : (\boldsymbol{\tau} - \boldsymbol{\eta}) \geq \left(\varepsilon^* \left(\frac{\partial \mathbf{u}}{\partial t}\right) - \frac{\partial \varepsilon_{trip}}{\partial t}\right) : (\boldsymbol{\tau} - \boldsymbol{\eta})$$

f.a. $\boldsymbol{\tau} \in \mathbb{R}^{3 \times 3}_{\text{sym}}$ with $\boldsymbol{\tau} = \boldsymbol{\tau}^T$, $\operatorname{tr}(\boldsymbol{\tau}) = 0$ and $F(2\mu \boldsymbol{\tau}, \mathbf{X}_{cp}, R_0, R) \leq 0$. Based on (8) and (43), $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{te}$ is given by $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{te} = \boldsymbol{\eta} + \frac{1}{3}\operatorname{tr}(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}(\mathbf{u}))$ Id. Moreover, it holds

(54)
$$\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp} = \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^*(\mathbf{u}) - \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{trip} - \boldsymbol{\eta}$$
 and $\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp}}{\partial t} = \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^*\left(\frac{\partial \mathbf{u}}{\partial t}\right) - \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{trip}}{\partial t} - \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\eta}}{\partial t}$

2. Eliminating ε_{cp} in the variational inequality: This approach is similar to the idea in [DL76]. In this particular situation one gets from (8) and (43) (for constant μ)

(55)
$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp}}{\partial t} = -\frac{1}{2\mu} \left(\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\sigma}^*}{\partial t} \right) + \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^* \left(\frac{\partial \mathbf{u}}{\partial t} \right) - \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{trip}}{\partial t}$$

Therefore, the inequality (52) reads as

(56)
$$\frac{1}{2\mu} \left(\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\sigma}^*}{\partial t} \right) : (\boldsymbol{\tau} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}) - \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^* \left(\frac{\partial \mathbf{u}}{\partial t} \right) : (\boldsymbol{\tau} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}) + \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{trip}}{\partial t} : (\boldsymbol{\tau} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}) \ge 0$$

f.a. $\boldsymbol{\tau} \in \mathbb{R}^9$ with $\boldsymbol{\tau} = \boldsymbol{\tau}^T$ and $F(\boldsymbol{\tau}, \mathbf{X}_{cp}, R_0, R) \leq 0$, where $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$ has to be symmetric and to fulfill the constraint $F(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \mathbf{X}_{cp}, R_0, R) \leq 0$. Note, that only in the special case without influence of $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp}$ on $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{trip}$, one can exclude $\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{trip}}{\partial t}$ from (56) without any return of $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp}$ after substituting $\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{trip}}{\partial t}$ in (56). But, in the case of hardening, one re-imports $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{cp}$ via the back-stress relations. That is why this approach seems to be inconvenient.

Remark 6 (Definition of a weak formulation of the variational inequality). The weak formulation of the variational inequality reads as: Find $\boldsymbol{\eta} \in W^{1,2}(0,T;[L^2(\Omega)]^9)$ with $\boldsymbol{\eta}(t) \in \mathbf{K}$ f.a.a. $t \in]0,T[$ s.t.

(57)
$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\eta}}{\partial t}(t) : \left(\boldsymbol{\sigma} - \boldsymbol{\eta}(t)\right) d\mathbf{x} \ge \int_{\Omega} \left(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^* \left(\frac{\partial \mathbf{u}}{\partial t}(t)\right) - \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{trip}}{\partial t}\right) : \left(\boldsymbol{\sigma} - \boldsymbol{\eta}(t)\right) d\mathbf{x}$$

f.a. $\boldsymbol{\sigma} \in [L^2(\Omega)]^9$ with $\operatorname{tr}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}) = 0$, $\boldsymbol{\sigma} = \boldsymbol{\sigma}^T$ and $F(2\mu \,\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \mathbf{X}_{cp}, R_0, R) \leq 0$. The idea to tackle this problem is to use solution methods for solving parabolic variational inequalities, cf. e.g. [Nau84]. Let $\chi_{\mathbf{K}} : [L^2(\Omega)]^9 \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ be the indicator function on \mathbf{K} , i.e. $\chi_{\mathbf{K}}(\mathbf{u}) = 0$ if $\mathbf{u} \in \mathbf{K}$ and $\chi_{\mathbf{K}}(\mathbf{u}) = +\infty$ if $\mathbf{u} \notin \mathbf{K}$. The variational inequality (52) can be rewritten as a differential inclusion $\frac{\partial \varepsilon_{cp}}{\partial t} \in \partial \chi_{\mathbf{K}}(\boldsymbol{\sigma})$, cf. [Zei85] for details. Using (56) and this differential inclusion $(2\mu \text{ is a positive multiplier})$, (47) – (48) and (17) are equivalent to find the stress deviator $\boldsymbol{\sigma}^* : \Omega \times [0, T[\to \mathbb{R}^{3\times 3}_{\text{sym}}, \text{ s.t.}]$

(58)
$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\sigma}^*}{\partial t}(t) + \partial \chi_{\mathbf{K}}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}^*(t)) \ni 2\mu \left(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^*\left(\frac{\partial \mathbf{u}}{\partial t}(t)\right) - \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{trip}}{\partial t}(t)\right) \text{ f.a.a. } t \in]0, T[$$

(59)
$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}^*(0) = \boldsymbol{\sigma}^*_0 := 2\mu\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^*(\mathbf{u}_0)$$

This leads to the theory of differential inclusions and/or evolution equations of subgradient type, cf. e.g. [Wat73, Ken75, Bar76, Ken77, Pap90, Ahm92, Pap95].

3 Numerical Examples

In this section some numerical simulations with realistic material data are presented to demonstrate the distortion effect of metallurgical phase transitions in the context of small deformations (for large deformations cf. e.g. [MWSB12]).

3.1 Description of the setting

In order to show phase induced thermo-mechanical effects, we implement the presented model in COMSOL Multiphysics[®], cf. e.g. [Zim06] and simulate the Jominy-End-Quench-Test. The Jominy-End-Quench-Test is a standard test to determine the hardenability of steels. Moreover, it is useful for simulation testing. Here, it is used to test the thermo-mechanical model with phase transitions and TRIP and to illustrate the results (cf. e.g. [Höm96, Höm97, HLHM04, NKSF05]). The heat treatment process for most steels involves heating the alloy until austenite forms, then cooling it so rapidly that the transformation into martensite occurs almost immediately. The presence of two (or more) phases leads to plastic deformation due to the volume differences in the phases. There are situations, where classical plasticity is negligible and TRIP is the decisive factor, cf. e.g. [WBS09]. For a sufficiently high cooling rate, i.e. close to the quenched boundary parts, where the temperature descends very quickly, austenite is transformed into the hard phase martensite, whereas a slower temperature change, e.g. in the interior of a big workpiece, causes usually softer phases like ferrite, pearlite or bainite to grow. A correlation of the temperature change and the phase transformation can be obtained from the time-temperature-transformation diagram. Due to the fact that the product phases (e.g. pearlite and martensite) have different thermal expansion (different (lower) densities in comparison with austenite), their formation influences the deformation of the workpiece.

In order to avoid technicalities, we consider only the cooling of a steel specimen from high temperature phase austenite with fraction p_A to one product phase (martensite) with phase fraction p_M . This applies for instance in martensitic hardening of eutectoid carbon steel.

3.2 Literature review: Numerical simulation for thermo-mechanical models

In this section some references connected with the problem of interest are collected. For the implementation of algorithms in elasto-plasticity there exist some literature, cf. e.g. [SH98, Mah99]. Simulation of steel quenching process using a multi-phase transformation model is discussed in [RFF01] and a finite element analysis of coupled thermo-inelastic problem with phase transformation is given in [IW82]. A adaptive finite element simulation of a model for TRIP in steel are presented in [SWB03, SSM⁺06].

Adaptive finite element methods with ALBERTA (cf. e.g. [SS05]) are investigated in the work of [Suh10] for numerical simulations, concerning analysis of distortion for workpieces with and without phase changes. Throughout the thesis a mathematical model for steel quenching is introduced, a numerical scheme is developed and in simulations for conical rings it is shown that the model is in accordance with the reality. Numerical treatment of models including phase transitions, transformation-induced and classical plasticity is rarely found in the literature so far. A semi-implicit numerical scheme is derived for both models. In order to identify the model parameters for the more complex hardening model an optimization procedure is developed.

The papers [CHK07, HK09] and the thesis [Ker11] are concerned with thermo-mechanical modeling and numerical treatment of metallurgical phase transitions in steel during quenching. Their quasi-static model is similar to the presented model without the inertia term, without classical plasticity and with pure zero boundary conditions, but it still captures the effect of TRIP. The implementation is done within the finite element framework provided by the WIAS-toolbox p ∂ elib (cf. [FKL98]) using a semi-implicit approach for time-stepping. The resulting code is applied to investigate the effect of inhomogeneous quenching strategies of roller bearing rings. Moreover, a strategy for distortion compensation by means of a gradient method obtained from optimal control theory is introduced.

A semi-implicit algorithm (predictor-corrector approach based on [SH98]) for incorporating the interaction between (classical) plasticity and TRIP in steel is developed in [WBMS11]. Contrary to the usual elasto-plasticity, the underlying model of material behavior of steel is far more complex. A special application of this approach for small and large deformations in SIMULIA Abaqus FEA[®] is provided in [MWSB12].

3.3 Numerical Implementation

The objective is to simulate the quenching process of a steel specimen. We consider a twodimensional cross-section (due to rotation symmetry) of a steel cylinder made of the eutectoid carbon steel 100Cr6 of dimension 100mm \times 25mm and infer specific cooling to obtain corresponding phase distribution. We assume the specimen to be the closure of a Lipschitz domain Ω . As mentioned above, we consider only the cooling and not the preliminary heating process.





(a) Photo from [Lie05].

(b) Scheme from [HLHM04].

Figure 1: Jominy-End-Quench-Test.

Therefore we assume a sufficiently high, homogeneous initial temperature and complete austenitization. Moreover, we distinguish between the reference and the initial geometry. Using the initial value $\mathbf{u}_0(\mathbf{x}) = \alpha_A (\theta_0 - \theta_{air}) \mathbf{x}$ for the displacement, we take this initial thermal expansion into account. Creep effects and TRIP during the austenitization are not considered.

In the model the workpiece is quenched at the bottom (this corresponds to nonzero Robin boundary conditions) and it is assumed to be fixed on top. Furthermore, we suppose that the whole upper boundary part may only shrink horizontally. Moreover, it is assumed to be thermally insulated. The left and the right edges fulfill Robin boundary conditions as well, but the cooling rate is considerably lower. The following initial conditions f.a. \mathbf{x} in Ω :

(60)
$$\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x},0) = \mathbf{u}_0(\mathbf{x}), \qquad \mathbf{u}'(\mathbf{x},0) = \mathbf{0}, \qquad \theta(\mathbf{x},0) = \theta_0,$$

(61)
$$\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{x},0) = \mathbf{p}_0(\mathbf{x}), \qquad \varepsilon_{trip}(\mathbf{x},0) = \mathbf{0}, \qquad \varepsilon_{cp}(\mathbf{x},0) = \mathbf{0}$$

and the mixed boundary conditions for ${\bf u}$ and for θ

(65)
$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\Gamma_{right}} = \mathbf{0}$$
 and $-\lambda_{\theta} \nabla \theta \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\Gamma_{right}} = \delta_{air} \left(\theta - \theta_{air} \right)$ on Γ_{right}

are included. We consider only two phases, a parent phase, austenite and a forming phase, martensite (cf. [DSB83, GZWD00, GTJS01, BHL⁺06]). This behavior is given by the Leblond-Devaux model, cf. rem. 4:

$$p'_{A}(\mathbf{x},t) = -p'_{M}(\mathbf{x},t), \qquad p_{A}(\mathbf{x},0) = 1, p'_{M}(\mathbf{x},t) = \mu \left(\bar{p}_{M}(\theta(\mathbf{x},t)) - p_{M}(\mathbf{x},t) \right), \qquad p_{M}(\mathbf{x},0) = 0$$

for $\mathbf{x} \in \Omega$, where $p_1 = p_A$ – austinite phase fraction, $p_2 = p_M$ – martensite phase fraction, $\mathbf{p}_0 = (p_A(0), p_M(0))^T$, θ – given temperature and \bar{p}_M represents the maximal martensitic phase fraction that can be attained. We use the following Koistinen-Marburger ansatz (cf. (42)):

$$\bar{p}_M(\theta) = 1 - \exp\left(\frac{\theta - \theta_{ms}}{\theta_{m0}}\right)$$
 for $\theta \in [\theta_{mf}, \theta_{ms}]$ and $\bar{p}_M(\theta) = 0$ for $\theta \in [\theta_{ms}, \theta_0]$.

Moreover, we assume $\mathbf{f} = (0, \rho_0 g)^T$ and r = 0. Furthermore, we assume a linear mixture rule between both phases f.a. material parameters, i.e. the value of a material parameter is calculated by $\pi = \pi_A p_A + \pi_M p_M$, where p_A , p_M are the austenitic and martensitic phase fraction and π_A , π_M are the corresponding material parameters, which are taken from data table 1 for eutectoid carbon steel 100Cr6. The parameter μ is calculated via the measured data from dilatometer or GleebleTM experiments (cf. [HTY09, WBLS05, WBS04]).

	Property	Unit	Phase	
			Austenite	Martensite
λ	Thermal Conductivity	$\frac{W}{mm^{\circ}C}$	0.02012	0.04273
c_e	Specific Heat Capacity	$\frac{J}{\text{kg}^{\circ}\text{C}}$	560.7	501.3
ρ	Density	$\frac{kg}{m^3}$	7798	7741
E	Elastic Modulus	MPa	170665	204671
ν	Poisson Ratio	—	0.3318	0.3556
R_0	Initial Yield Strength	MPa	173.3	1278.4
α	Thermal Expansion Coefficient	$\frac{10^{-6}}{^{\circ}\mathrm{C}}$	23.8	10.9
$ ho_0$	Initial Density	$\frac{kg}{m^3}$	8041.4	
ΔH_{a-m}	Transformation Enthalpy	$\frac{1}{k\sigma}$	78520	
θ_0	Initial Temperature	°Č	850	
$ heta_{ m air}$	Air Temperature	°C		22
θ_{water}	Water Temperature	°C	-	18
θ_{ms}	Martensite Start Temperature	°C	2	11
θ_{mf}	Martensite Finish Temperature	°C	_	174
θ_{m0}	Koistinen-Marburger Temperature	°C	9	3.4
$\delta_{ m air}$	Heat Transfer Coefficient (Air)	$\frac{W}{m^2 K}$	1	50
$\delta_{ m water}$	Heat Transfer Coefficient (Water)	$\frac{W}{m^2 K}$	31	200
κ	Greenwood-Johnson Parameter	$\frac{1}{MPa}$	$7 \cdot$	10^{-5}
μ	Leblond-Devaux Parameter		5.95	
g	Gravitational Acceleration	$\frac{\mathrm{m}}{\mathrm{s}^2}$	9	.81

Table 1: Average material properties and their units and dimensions, cf. [ADF⁺08a, ADF⁺08b, SLH⁺09, Suh10].

3.4 Simulation results and conclusion

Fig. 2 and fig. 3 demonstrate the process at a sample of time steps. The workpiece is shown at times t = 0s, 0.2s, 2s, 5s, 10s, 20s, 30s, 40s, 50s and 100s. Colors indicate the temperature in fig. 2 and the martensite fraction in fig. 3, where blue corresponds to low values and red to high values of temperature or phase fraction. The background rectangle gives the initial geometry. The deformation of the workpiece is magnified by a factor of 10.

At time t = 0s, the initially rectangular specimen is completely heated and stress-free, cf. fig. 2a and fig. 3a. A strong cooling is applied to the bottom, the left and right side is cooled moderately and there is no heat transfer at the top of the sample. When quenching sets in, we can observe the shrinking of the quenched area in fig. 2c and fig. 3c. Because of the strong cooling, the sample contracts more at the left and right bottom vertexes in vertical direction. After a while, thermoelastic effects may be observed first, i.e. the shrinking due to classical thermo-elasticity can be observed. After some time, the austenite-martensite-transformation sets in (cf. fig. 2d and fig. 3d), beginning at the left and right bottom vertexes, where the temperature has already dropped below the martensite start temperature, i.e. the rapid cooling



Figure 2: Surface plot: Temperature

effected the growth of martensite in the lower part of the specimen. Martensite has a lower density and thereby a larger volume and higher expansion than austenite. Therefore the sample starts to expand in this area. Thus, the transformation pushes the material outward, which causes a huge bulge in the specimen (cf. fig. 2e - g and fig. 3e - g) and remains until the heat treatment is completed, cf. fig. 2h and fig. 3h. This corresponds to the observed behavior in experiments, cf. [HLHM04, NKSF05] for instance.

Fig. 4 shows the influence of different effects of the fully coupled model. Fig. 4a corresponds with fig. 2h in order to compare the following different scenarios. Fig. 4b (without intrinsic dissipation), fig. 4c (without inertia term in the momentum balance) and fig. 4e (without TRIP) show a similar result. The importance of considering the phase transitions and the plastic effects is shown in fig. 4d (without classical plasticity), fig. 4f (without plasticity) and fig. 4g (without phases), where the deviation from the fully coupled model in fig. 4a is very big. The simple thermo-elastic model shown in fig. 4h is even worse.



Figure 3: Surface plot: Martensitic phase fraction



Figure 4: Surface plot: Temperature for different scenarios

4 Discussion and outlook

In this work we introduced and investigated a mathematical model for steel quenching.

Modeling: A further continuation at the level of mathematical modeling would be the connection of this problem with micro- and meso-investigations (cf. e.g. [Fis90, DSB95] for micro-models for TRIP), in particular of phase transformations, transformation-induced plastic behavior and the interaction with classical plasticity, which leads to the method of mathematical homogenization (cf. [OSY92, Vis06, Vis08, Sch09, SV10] for homogenization approaches).

Moreover, dimensional analysis could be helpful to reduce the number of key parameters in order to accomplish qualitative investigations or to prepare approximate calculations (cf. [WBF08]). In order to investigate special heat treatment processes, like carbonization, the description of the carbon diffusion would be interesting (cf. ansatz in [WBM06, Hüß07]).

More complex phenomena, like additional inelastic dissipation or non-constant material parameters could be taken into account. The investigation of more general saturation functions (cf. rem. 1) or more general evolution equations for the phase fractions could also be discussed. Finally, in the context of heat treatment, (kinematic) hardening, creep (cf. [NA07, BWD⁺11]) and damage (e.g. fatigue, ratcheting, friction (cf. [Ell97, ASS99, HSS01, LD05, Cha06, AMM07])) may be relevant and need to be investigated (cf. [WBBD12]). To describe phase transformations during the complete heating and cooling process cf. e.g. the ansatz in [SKHZ08]. Moreover, considering small and large deformations would be interesting as well.

Simulation: The numerical simulation should be extended in order to incorporate additional forming phases like ferrite and bainite. Moreover, the simulation of other geometries should be taken into account. Therefore, an complex implementation with real data and the comparison of the simulation results with experimental data could follow up this work as a larger project (cf. [Suh10, Ker11]).

Application: The effect of inhomogeneous quenching strategies could be investigated and the numerical computations should be compared with the experimental results in order to follow up

the work [CHK07, HK09, Ker11, Boe12a] to some extent. Therefore, a strategy for distortion compensation by means of a optimization method obtained from optimal control theory has to be introduced.

Possible extensions are also testing and evaluating models for phase transformations, TRIP and stress-dependent transformation behavior for under-eutectoid steels with different carbon content as well as the evaluation of relevant creep models based on measured data (cf. [BWD⁺11, WBBD12]).

In summary, the results give a theoretical basis for further mathematical investigation or the efficient implementation of numerical algorithms suitable for real-world applications.

References

- [ADF⁺08a] C. Acht, M. Dalgic, F. Frerichs, M. Hunkel, A. Irretier, T. Lübben, and H. Surm. Ermittlung der Materialdaten zur Simulation des Durchhärtens von Komponenten aus 100Cr6 – Teil 1. HTM, 63(5):234–244, 2008.
- [ADF⁺08b] C. Acht, M. Dalgic, F. Frerichs, M. Hunkel, A. Irretier, T. Lübben, and H. Surm. Ermittlung der Materialdaten zur Simulation des Durchhärtens von Komponenten aus 100Cr6 – Teil 2. *HTM*, 63(6):362–371, 2008.
- [AGC04] E. Aeby-Gautier and G. Cailletaud. N-phase modeling applied to phase transformations in steels: a coupled kinetics-mechanics approach. In *International Conference* on *Heterogeneous Material Mechanics*, 2004.
- [Ahm92] N. U. Ahmed. An Existence Theorem for Differential Inclusions on Banach Space. J. Appl. Math. Stoch. Anal., 5(2):123–130, 1992.
- [AMM07] S. Abdel-Malek and L. W. Meyer. Modellierung des Fließverhaltens und Beschreibung des duktilen Versagens in einem weiten Bereich von Dehngeschwindigkeiten. *Mat.-wiss. u. Werkstofftech.*, 38(2):101–107, 2007.
- [ASS99] A. Amassad, M. Shillor, and M. Sofonea. A Quasistatic Contact Problem with Slip-dependent Coefficient of Friction. *Math. Methods Appl. Sci.*, 22:267–284, 1999.
- [ASS01] A. Amassad, M. Shillor, and M. Sofonea. A Nonlinear Evolution Inclusion in Perfect Plasticity with Friction. *Acta Math. Univ. Comenianae*, LXX:215–228, 2001.
- [Bar76] V. Barbu. Nonlinear Semigroups and Differential Equations in Banach Spaces. Noordhoff International Publishing, 1976.
- [BFM11] J.-F. Babadjian, G. A. Francfort, and M. G. Mora. Quasistatic evolution in non-associative plasticity – the cap model. submitted, 2011.
- [BHL⁺06] M. Burtchen, M. Hunkel, T. Lübben, F. Hoffmann, and H.-W. Zoch. Simulation of quenching treatments on bearing components. *HTM*, 61(3):136–141, 2006.
- [BHSW04] M. Böhm, M. Hunkel, A. Schmidt, and M. Wolff. Evaluation of various phasetransition models for 100Cr6 for application in commercial FEM programmes. J. Phys., IV(120):581–589, 2004.
- [Boe07] S. Boettcher. Zur mathematischen Aufgabe der Thermoelastizität unter Berücksichtigung von Phasenumwandlungen und Umwandlungsplastizität. Diploma Thesis, Universität Bremen, 2007.

- [Boe12a] S. Boettcher. Modelling, Analysis and Simulation of Thermo-Elasto-Plasticity with Phase Transitions in Steel. PhD Thesis, Universität Bremen, 2012.
- [Boe12b] S. Boettcher. Über eine mathematische Aufgabe zum Materialverhalten von Stahl mit Phasenumwandlungen und Umwandlungsplastizität. ZeTeM Reports, Universität Bremen, 2012.
- [BT06] H. Berns and W. Theisen. Eisenwerkstoffe Stahl und Gusseisen. Springer, 2006.
- [BWD⁺11] S. Bökenheide, M. Wolff, M. Dalgic, D. Lammers, and T. Linke. Creep, phase transformations and transformation-induced plasticity of 100Cr6 steel during heating. In T. Lübben and H.-W. Zoch, editors, *Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Distortion Engineering*, pages 411–418, 2011.
- [Cha06] O. Chau. On an elasto-dynamic evolution equation with non dead load and friction. *Appl. Math.*, 51(3):229–246, 2006.
- [CHK07] K. Chelminski, D. Hömberg, and D. Kern. On a thermomechanical model of phase transitions in steel. WIAS Preprint 1225, WIAS Berlin, 2007.
- [CR06] K. Chelminski and R. Racke. Mathematical Analysis of Thermoplasticity with Linear Kinematic Hardening. J. Appl. Anal., 12(1):37–57, 2006.
- [Dah93] W. Dahl, editor. Eigenschaften und Anwendungen von Stählen Band 1: Grundlagen. Verlag der Augustinus Buchhandlung, 1993.
- [DB04a] S. Dachkovski and M. Böhm. Finite thermoplasticity with phase changes based on isomorphisms. *Int. J. Plast.*, 20:323–334, 2004.
- [DB04b] S. Dachkovski and M. Böhm. Objective modeling of some elastoplastic materials with phase changes. J. Phys. IV France, 120(120):153–160, 2004.
- [DL76] G. Duvant and J. L. Lions. Inequalities in Mechanics and Physics, volume 219 of A Series of Comprehensive Studies in Mathematics. Springer, 1976.
- [DL06] M. Dalgic and G. Löwisch. Transformation plasticity at different phase transformations of a bearing steel. *Mat.-wiss. u. Werkstofftech.*, 37(122), 2006.
- [DLZ06] M. Dalgic, G. Löwisch, and H.-W. Zoch. Beschreibung der Umwandlungsplastizität auf Grund innerer Spannungen während der Phasentransformation des Stahls 100Cr6. *HTM*, 61(222), 2006.
- [DSB83] S. Denis, A. Simon, and G. Beck. Analysis of the thermomechanical behaviour of steel during martensitic quenching and calculation of internal stresses. 1983.
- [DSB95] J.M. Diani, H. Sabar, and M. Berveiller. Micromechanical modelling of the transformation induced plasticity (TRIP) phenomenon in steels. Int. J. Engng Sci., 33(13):1921–1934, 1995.
- [Ell97] F. Ellyin. Fatigue Damage, Crack Growth, and Life Prediction. Chapman and Hall/CRC Press, 1997.
- [ER04] F. Ebobisse and B. D. Reddy. Some mathematical problems in perfect plasticity. Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Engrg., 193:5071–5094, 2004.

- [FBTO94] F. D. Fischer, M. Berveiller, K. Tanaka, and E. R. Oberaigner. Continuum mechanical aspects of phase transformations in solids. Arch. Appl. Mech., 64:54–85, 1994.
- [Fis90] F. D. Fischer. A micromechanical model for transformation plasticity in steels. Acta Metall. Mater., 38:1535–1546, 1990.
- [Fis97] F. D. Fischer. Modelling and simulation of transformation induced plasticity in elasto-plastic materials, volume 368 of Mechanics of Solids with Phase Changes. Springer Verlag, 1997.
- [FKL98] J. Fuhrmann, T. Koprucki, and H. Langmach. PDELIB: An Open Modular Tool Box For The Numerical Solution Of Partial Differential Equations. Design Patterns, 1998.
- [FRW⁺00] F. D. Fischer, G. Reisner, E. Werner, K. Tanaka, G. Cailletaud, and T. Antretter. A new view on transformation induced plasticity (TRIP). Int. J. Plast., 16:723–748, 2000.
- [FST96] F. D. Fischer, Q. P. Sun, and K. Tanaka. Transformation-induced Plasticity (TRIP). Applied Mechanics Reviews, 49:317–364, 1996.
- [GTJS01] S. Grostabussiat, L. Taleb, J.F. Jullien, and F. Sidoroff. Transformation induced plasticity in martensitic transformation of ferrous alloys. J. Phys., 11:4–173, 2001.
- [GZWD00] E. Gautier, J. Zhang, Y. Wen, and S. Denis. Effects of stress on martensitic transformation in ferrous alloys. Experiments and numerical simulations, in: Phase transformations and evolution in materials. The Minerals, Metals and Materials Society, 2000.
- [Hau02] P. Haupt. Continuum Mechanics and Theory of Materials. Springer, 2002.
- [HK09] D. Hömberg and D. Kern. The heat treatment of steel A mathematical control problem. WIAS Preprint 1402, WIAS Berlin, 2009.
- [HKLM02] F. Hoffmann, O. Keler, T. Lübben, and P. Mayr. "Distortion Engineering" Verzugsbeherrschung in der Fertigung. *HTM*, 57(3):213–217, 2002.
- [HLHM04] M. Hunkel, T. Lübben, F. Hoffmann, and P. Mayr. Using the Jominy end-quench test for validation of thermo-metallurgical model parameters. J. Phys. IV France, 120:571–579, 2004.
- [Höm95] D. Hömberg. A mathematical model for the phase transitions in eutectoid carbon steel. *IMA J. Appl. Math.*, 54:31–57, 1995.
- [Höm96] D. Hömberg. A numerical simulation of the Jominy end-quench test. Acta Materialia, 44(11):4375–4385, 1996.
- [Höm97] D. Hömberg. Irreversible phase transitions in steel. Math. Methods Appl. Sci., 20:59–77, 1997.
- [Hor92] D. Horstmann. Das Zustandsschaubild Eisen-Kohlenstoff und die Grundlagen der Wärmebehandlung der Eisen-Kohlenstoff-Legierungen. Stahleisen, 1992.
- [HR99] W. Han and B. D. Reddy. Plasticity: Mathematical Theory and Numerical Analysis. Springer, 1999.

- [HSS01] W. Han, M. Shillor, and M. Sofonea. Variational and numerical analysis of a quasistatic viscoelastic problem with normal compliance, friction and damage. J. Compt. Appl. Anal., 137:377–398, 2001.
- [HTY09] D. Hömberg, N. Togobytska, and M. Yamamoto. On the evalution of dilatometer experiments. *Appl. Anal.*, 88(5):669–681, 2009.
- [Hüß07] I. Hüßler. Mathematische Untersuchungen eines gekoppelten Systems von ODE und PDE zur Modellierung von Phasenumwandlungen im Stahl. Diploma Thesis, Universität Bremen, 2007.
- [HWR05] P. Håkansson, M. Wallin, and M. Ristinmaa. Comparison of isotropic hardening and kinematic hardening in thermoplasticity. *Int. J. Plast.*, 21:1435–1460, 2005.
- [IW82] T. Inoue and Z. Wang. Finite element analysis of coupled thermoinelastic problem with phase transformation. Int. Conf. Num. Meth. in Industrial Forming Processes. Pittmann, Pineridge Press, 1982.
- [IW85] T. Inoue and Z. Wang. Coupling between stress, temperature and metallic structures during processes involving phase transformations. *Materials Science and Technology*, 1:845–850, 1985.
- [JK96] Y. Jiang and P. Kurath. Characteristics of the Armstrong-Frederick type plasticity models. Int. J. Plast., 12:387–415, 1996.
- [JR00] S. Jiang and R. Racke. Evolution Equations in Thermoelasticity, volume 112 of Monographs and Surveys in Pure and Applied Mathematics. Chapman and Hall / CRC Press, 2000.
- [KBW12] N.-H. Kröger, M. Böhm, and M. Wolff. Viscoelasticity within the framework of isothermal two-mechanism models. *Comput. Mat. Sci.*, 64:30–33, 2012.
- [Ken75] N. Kenmochi. Some Nonlinear Parabolic Variational Inequalities. Isreal J. Math., 22(3-4):304–331, 1975.
- [Ken77] N. Kenmochi. Nonlinear Evolution Equations with Variable Domains in Hilbert Spaces. *Proc. Japan Acad.*, 53(A)(5):163–166, 1977.
- [Ker11] D. Kern. Analysis and numerics for a thermomechanical phase transition model in steel. PhD Thesis, TU Berlin, 2011.
- [KM59] D. P. Koistinen and R. E. Marburger. A general equation prescribing the extent of the austenite-martensite transformation in pure iron-carbon and plain carbon steels. *Acta Metallurgica*, 7(1):59–60, 1959.
- [Koh94] D. Kohtz. Wärmebehandlung metallischer Werkstoffe: Grundlagen und Verfahren. VDI, 1994.
- [LC90] J. Lemaitre and J.-L. Chaboche. *Mechanics of solid materials*. Cambridge University Press, 1990.
- [LD05] J. Lemaitre and R. Desmorat. Engineering Damage Mechanics. Springer, 2005.
- [Lem01] J. Lemaitre. Handbook of Materials Behavior Models. Academic Press, 2001.

- [Lie05] D. Liedtke. Wärmebehandlung von Stahl Härten, Anlassen, Vergüten, Bainitisieren. Merkblatt 450, Stahl-Informations-Zentrum, 2005.
- [Lie09] D. Liedtke. Wärmebehandlung von Stahl Randschichthärten. Merkblatt 236, Stahl-Informations-Zentrum, 2009.
- [LMDD85] J. B. Leblond, G. Mottet, J. Devaux, and J. C. Devaux. Mathematical models of anisothermal phase transformations in steels and predicted plastic behaviour. *Materials Science and Technology*, 1:815–822, 1985.
- [Lub02] V. A. Lubarda. *Elastoplasticity Theory*. CRC Press, 2002.
- [Lub06] J. Lubliner. *Plasticity Theory*. Pearson Education, Inc., 2006.
- [Mac92] E. Macherauch. Praktikum in Werkstoffkunde. Vieweg, 1992.
- [Mah99] R. Mahnken. Improved implementation of an algorithm for non-linear isotropic/kinematic hardening in elastoplasticity. *Commun. Numer. Meth. Engng.*, 15:745–754, 1999.
- [Mau92] G. A. Maugin. *The Thermodynamics of Plasticity and Fracture*. Cambridge University Press, 1992.
- [Mit87] W. Mitter. Umwandlungsplastizität und ihre Berücksichtigung bei der Berechnung von Eigenspannungen. Materialkundlich-Technische Reihe, Gebr. Bornträger Verlagsbuchhandlung, 7, 1987.
- [MS02] E. J. Mittemeijer and F. Sommer. Solid state phase transformation kinetics: A modular transformation model. *Zeitschrift für Metallkunde*, 93(5):352–361, 2002.
- [MWSB12] R. Mahnken, M. Wolff, A. Schneidt, and M. Böhm. Multi-phase transformations at large strains – Thermodynamic framework and simulation. Int. J. Plast., 39:1–26, 2012.
- [NA07] K. Naumenko and H. Altenbach. *Modeling of Creep for Structural Analysis*. Springer, 2007.
- [Nau84] J. Naumann. Einführung in die Theorie parabolischer Variationsungleichungen, volume 64 of Teubner-Texte zur Mathematik. Teubner, 1984.
- [NKSF05] M. Narazaki, M. Kogawara, A. Shirayori, and S. Fuchizawa. Validation of Material Property Data for Quenching Simulation by End-quench Test and its Simulation. In *IDE 2005*, 2005.
- [OSY92] O. A. Oleinik, A. S. Shamaev, and G. A. Yosifian. Mathematical Problems in Elasticity and Homogenization, volume 26 of Studies in Mathematics and its Applications. Noordhoff International Publishing, 1992.
- [Pal98] V. Palmov. Vibrations of Elasto-Plastic Bodies. Foundations of Engineering Mechanics. Springer, 1998.
- [Pap90] N. S. Papageorgiou. On evolution inclusions associated with time dependent convex subdifferentials. Comment. Math. Univ. Carolin., 31(3):517–527, 1990.
- [Pap95] N. S. Papageorgiou. On Parametric Evolution Inclusions of the Subdifferential Type with Applications to Optimal Control Problems. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 347(1):203–231, January 1995.

- [RFF01] T. Réti, Z. L. Fried, and I. Felde. Computer simulation of steel quenching process using a multi-phase transformation model. *Comput. Mat. Sci.*, 22:261–278, 2001.
- [Saï11] K. Saï. Multi-mechanism models: Present state and future trends. Int. J. Plast., 27:250–281, 2011.
- [Sch09] B. Schweizer. Homogenization of the Prager model in one-dimensional plasticity. Continuum Mech. Thermodyn., 20(8):459–477, 2009.
- [SH98] J. C. Simo and T. J. R. Hughes. Computational Inelasticity, volume 7 of Interdisciplinary Applied Mathematics. Springer Verlag, 1998.
- [SKHZ08] H. Surm, O. Kessler, F. Hoffmann, and H-W. Zoch. Modelling of austenitising with non-constant heating rate in hypereutectoid steels. Int. J. Microstructure and Materials Properties, 3(1):35–48, 2008.
- [ŞLH⁺09] C. Şimşir, T. Lübben, F. Hoffmann, H.-W. Zoch, and M. Wolff. Prediction of Distortions in Through Hardening of Cylindrical Steel Workpieces by Dimensional Analysis. In New Challenges in Heat Treatment and Surface Engineering, 2009.
- [SS05] A. Schmidt and K. G. Siebert. Design of Adaptive Finite Element Software The Finite Element Toolbox ALBERTA. Springer, 2005.
- [SSM⁺06] A. Schmidt, B. Suhr, T. Moshagen, M. Wolff, and M. Böhm. Adaptive Finite Element Simulations for Macroscopic and Mesoscopic Models. *Mat.-wiss. u. Werk-stofftech.*, 37(1):142–146, 2006.
- [Suh10] B. Suhr. Simulation of steel quenching with interaction of classical plasticity and TRIP – numerical methods and model comparison. PhD Thesis, Universität Bremen, 2010.
- [SV10] B. Schweizer and M. Veneroni. Periodic homogenization of Prandtl-Reuss plasticity equations in arbitrary dimension. Math-Preprints, TU Dortmund, 2010.
- [SWB03] A. Schmidt, M. Wolff, and M. Böhm. Adaptive finite element simulation of a model for transformation induced plasticity in steel. ZeTeM Reports, Universität Bremen, 2003.
- [TP06] L. Taleb and S. Petit. New investigations on transformation-induced plasticity and its interaction with classical plasticity. *Int. J. Plast.*, 22(110), 2006.
- [Vis87] A. Visintin. Mathematical models of solid-solid phase transitions in steel. IMA J. Appl. Math., 39:143–157, 1987.
- [Vis06] A. Visintin. Homogenization of the nonlinear Kelvin-Voigt model of viscoelasticity and of the Prager model of plasticity. *Continuum Mech. Thermodyn.*, 18:223–252, 2006.
- [Vis08] A. Visintin. Homogenization of the nonlinear Maxwell model of viscoelasticity and of the Prandtl-Reuss model of elastoplasticity. *Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh*, 138A:1363–1401, 2008.
- [WABM06] M. Wolff, C. Acht, M. Böhm, and S. A. Meier. Modeling of carbon diffusion and ferritic phase transformations in an unalloyed hypoeutectoid steel. Arch. Mech., 59(4-5):435–466, 2006.

- [Wat73] J. Watanabe. On certain nonlinear evolution equations. J. Math., 25(3):446–463, 1973.
- [WB03] M. Wolff and M. Böhm. Umwandlungsplastizität bei Stählen im Konzept der Thermoelasto-Plastizität – modelliert mit dem Ansatz einer Zwischenkonfiguration. Technische Mechanik, 23(1):29–48, 2003.
- [WB06] M. Wolff and M. Böhm. Transformation-induced plasticity: Modeling and analysis in a 3d case with more than two phases. *PAMM*, 6(1):415–416, 2006.
- [WB10] M. Wolff and M. Böhm. Two-mechanism models and modelling of creep. Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Nonlinear Dynamics, 2010.
- [WBB07] M. Wolff, M. Böhm, and S. Boettcher. Phase transformation in steel in the multiphase case – general modelling and parameter identification. ZeTeM Reports, Universität Bremen, 2007.
- [WBBD12] M. Wolff, M. Böhm, S. Bökenheide, and M. Dalgic. Some Recent Developments in Modelling of Heat-Treatment Phenomena in Steel within the Collaborative Research Centre SFB 570 "Distortion Engineering". Mat.-wiss. u. Werkstofftech., 43:136–142, 2012.
- [WBBK12] M. Wolff, M. Böhm, S. Bökenheide, and N.-H. Kröger. Two-Mechanism Approach in Thermo-Viscoelasticity with Internal Variables. *Technische Mechanik*, 32(2):608– 621, 2012.
- [WBD03] M. Wolff, M. Böhm, and S. Dachkovski. Volumenanteile versus Massenanteile der Dilatometerversuch aus der Sicht der Kontinuumsmechanik. ZeTeM Reports, Universität Bremen, 2003.
- [WBDH08] M. Wolff, M. Böhm, M. Dalgic, and I. Hüßler. Evaluation of models for trip and stress-dependent transformation behaviour for the martensitic transformation of the steel 100Cr6. *Comput. Mat. Sci.*, 43(1):108–114, 2008.
- [WBDL03] M. Wolff, M. Böhm, S. Dachkovski, and G. Löwisch. Zur makroskopischen Modellierung von spannungsabhängigem Umwandlungsverhalten und Umwandlungsplastizität bei Stählen und ihrer experimentellen Untersuchung in einfachen Versuchen. ZeTeM Reports, Universität Bremen, 2003.
- [WBF08] M. Wolff, M. Böhm, and F. Frerichs. Dimensional analysis of a model problem in thermoelasto-plasticity for cylindrical bodies under heating and cooling. ZAMM, 88(10):758–775, 2008.
- [WBH08] M. Wolff, M. Böhm, and D. Helm. Material behaviour of steel Modeling of complex phenomena and thermodynamic consistency. Int. J. Plast., 24:746–774, 2008.
- [WBLS05] M. Wolff, M. Böhm, G. Löwisch, and A. Schmidt. Modelling and testing of transformation-induced plasticity and stress-dependent phase transformations in steel via simple experiments. *Comput. Mat. Sci.*, 32:604–610, 2005.
- [WBM06] M. Wolff, M. Böhm, and S. A. Meier. Modellierung der Wechselwirkung von Kohlenstoff-Diffusion und ferritischen Phasenumwandlungen für einen untereutektoiden unlegierten Stahl. ZeTeM Reports, Universität Bremen, 2006.

- [WBMS11] M. Wolff, M. Böhm, R. Mahnken, and B. Suhr. Implementation of an algorithm for general material behavior of steel taking interaction of plasticity and transformationinduced plasticity into account. Int. J. Numer. Meth. Engng., 87:1183–1206, 2011.
- [WBS03] M. Wolff, M. Böhm, and A. Schmidt. Thermo-mechanical behaviour of steel including phase transitions and transformation-induced plasticity. *PAMM*, 2(1):206–207, 2003.
- [WBS04] M. Wolff, M. Böhm, and A. Schmidt. Phase transitions and transformation-induced plasticity of steel in the framework of continuum mechanics. J. Phys., IV(120):145– 152, 2004.
- [WBS05] M. Wolff, M. Böhm, and A. Schmidt. Trends in Applications of Mathematics to Mechanics, chapter A thermodynamically consistent model of the material behaviour of steel including phase transformations, classical and transformationinduced plasticity, pages 591–601. Shaker Verlag, 2005.
- [WBS06] M. Wolff, M. Böhm, and A. Schmidt. Modeling of steel phenomena and its interactions an internal-variable approach. *Mat.-wiss. u. Werkstofftech.*, 37(1):147–151, 2006.
- [WBS09] M. Wolff, M. Böhm, and B. Suhr. Comparison of different approaches to transformation-induced plasticity in steel. *Mat.-wiss. u. Werkstofftech.*, 40(5-6):454-459, 2009.
- [WBT10] M. Wolff, M. Böhm, and L. Taleb. Two-mechanism models with plastic mechanisms – modelling in continuum-mechanical framework. ZeTeM Reports, Universität Bremen, 2010.
- [WBT11] M. Wolff, M. Böhm, and L. Taleb. Thermodynamic Consistency of Two-mechanism Models in the Non-isothermal Case. *Technische Mechanik*, 31(1):58–80, 2011.
- [Wei09] O. Weinmann. Dual-Phase-Lag Thermoelastizität. PhD Thesis, Universität Konstanz, 2009.
- [WFL07] M. Wolff, F. Frerichs, and N. Lysenko. Bewerten von Modellen der Martensitbildung bei nichtmonotoner Abkühlung für den Stahl 100Cr6. ZeTeM Reports, Universität Bremen, 2007.
- [WT08] M. Wolff and L. Taleb. Consistency for two multi-mechanism models in isothermal plasticity. *Int. J. of Plast.*, 24:2059–2083, 2008.
- [WW04] N. Wegst and C. Wegst. *Stahlschlüssel-Taschenbuch: Wissenwertes über Stähle.* Verlag Stahlschlüssel, 2004.
- [Zei85] E. Zeidler. Nonlinear Functional Analysis and its Applications III Variational Methods and Optimization. Springer, 1985.
- [Zim06] W. B. J. Zimmermann. Multiphysics Modelling with Finite Element Methods, volume 18 of Series on Stability, Vibration and Control. World Scientific, 2006.